IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

---

Supreme Court No. 20-0076

---

**IN RE THE MARRIAGE OF SUSAN GAYLE HUTCHINSON  
AND ROBERT GREGORY HUTCHINSON**

**Upon the Petition of  
SUSAN GAYLE HUTCHINSON,  
Petitioner-Appellee,**

**And Concerning  
ROBERT GREGORY HUTCHINSON,  
Respondent-Appellant**

---

---

FROM THE DECISION OF THE IOWA COURT OF APPEALS  
FILED JULY 21, 2021

**APPLICATION FOR FURTHER REVIEW  
OF PETITIONER/APPELLEE  
SUSAN GAYLE HUTCHINSON**

RICHARD F. MITVALSKY  
THOMAS F. OCHS  
of  
GRAY, STEFANI, & MITVALSKY, P.L.C.  
425 Second Street S.E., Ste 700  
P.O. Box 456  
Cedar Rapids, IA 52406-0456  
Tel. 319 364-1535  
FAX 319 364-1562

### Introduction and Grounds for Further Review.

Robert Hutchinson (referred to as “Greg” in the district court and as “Robert” by the Court of Appeals<sup>1</sup>) intentionally misled his then-spouse, Susan Hutchinson (“Susan”), and her lawyer by concealing the existence of a vested pension account throughout the process of negotiating a settlement of the parties’ dissolution of marriage proceeding. Critically, following entry of their November 2, 2010 decree, Robert continued his concealment by refusing to respond to a written letter from Susan’s attorney requesting a return copy of an executed pension beneficiary form for their file.

Five years after the entry of the decree, Robert admitted his fraud to Susan and taunted her by saying, “there’s nothing you can do about it.” (Tr. p. 88, ln. 11-15)

The district court found that Robert “knew the pension vested three years prior to the parties’ dissolution of marriage.” (App. p. 242). At trial, Robert admitted he knew he was under a legal duty to disclose his vested interest in his GE pension (Tr. p. 25, ln. 6; p. 69, ln. 13-16), that did not do so (Tr. 46, ln. 17, 25), and that he believed Susan “didn’t deserve any of the pension”. (Tr. 323, ln. 7)

---

<sup>1</sup> This application adopts the court of appeals’ use of “Robert” for consistency with that opinion.

By the time of trial on Susan's petition to vacate, Susan had been cheated out of receiving at least \$40,117.80 in monthly marital pension payments, and future monthly payments in the amount of \$668.63. (App. pp. 249-250)

In its ruling granting Susan's request to vacate the property settlement portion of the decree, the district court found:

[Robert] knew of both its existence and the fact it was a marital asset, and that he intentionally did not disclose its existence or its value to Susan or her counsel. *The evidence also overwhelmingly established that [Robert] knew of his obligation/duty to fully disclose his assets (including the GE pension), and that he intentionally violated that duty.*

(App. p. 243)(*emphasis added*).

Both the district court and the court of appeals' dissenting opinion concluded Susan could not have discovered Robert's extrinsic fraud during the parties' divorce proceeding or within one year of entry of decree. However, the majority reversed the district court's order on the sole ground Susan or her attorney should have discovered Robert's extrinsic fraud despite his active concealment by following up on a letter Susan's attorney's office sent to Robert after the entry of the decree.

The court of appeals' reversal of the trial court's ruling presents this Court with the opportunity to address an issue of broad importance to the family law bar and to the public alike. If allowed to stand, the majority's opinion risks undermining confidence in the rule of law because it will invite litigants to engage in strategic

subterfuge, even to the extent of violating court orders and refusing to respond to actual requests for the very information that *could* timely lead to the discovery of fraud, all as Robert did here, in order to gain unjust outcomes in divorce. The court of appeals ruling effectively, but unrealistically and unjustly, leaves “policing” responsibility to the party victimized by the total concealment, even when the victim has been actively denied knowledge of the concealment by the actions of her former spouse. Further, the majority opinion makes no attempt to distinguish the outcome here from *In re Marriage of Rhinehart*, 09-0193, 2010 WL 44560 (2010), a case where the court of appeals affirmed a ruling that intentional concealment of assets could not have been discovered.

**I. THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED BY HOLDING SUSAN FAILED TO EXERCISE “REASONABLE DILIGENCE” THAT WOULD HAVE REVEALED EXTRINSIC FRAUD WITHIN ONE YEAR OF ENTRY OF THEIR DECREE.**

A. Statement of Facts

The district court entered a decree dissolving the Hutchinson’s 20-year marriage on November 2, 2010, incorporating by reference the parties’ Stipulation of Settlement. (App. pp. 124-136) The decree divided the parties’ marital assets and liabilities equally and awarded Susan monthly spousal support payments for four years. (App. pp. 124-136) As part of the property settlement, Robert retained

undivided ownership of a 401(k) account he established through GE, his former employer. (App. pp. 124-136)

Roughly ten months after termination of the alimony payments in 2015, Robert asked Susan to meet him at the University of Iowa Credit Union in order to sign a satisfaction of judgment. (App. p. 244), In the course of their conversation, Robert told Susan he was receiving a nice pension. (App. p. 244) Susan expressed surprise because Robert had never made mention of a pension account during their marriage and had not disclosed one during the process of their dissolution proceedings and settlement negotiations. (App. p. 244) Robert's response was, "It's too late. You can't do anything about it now." (App. p. 244)

Susan filed a Petition to Vacate, Modify or Amend Decree eight months later. (App. p. 9-16) The basis of her petition was the allegation Robert had committed extrinsic fraud by concealing the existence of the pension.

The crux of Robert's defense centered on a generic "Spouse's Consent to Waive Right to Benefits" form which he represented to Susan's attorney as necessary for waiving Susan's rights to any death benefits from his GE 401(k) account. Robert presented that form in blank for Susan's signature at the same time he signed the final draft of the stipulation on October 29, 2010. (App. p. 243) The GE consent form featured two check-boxes, one for a GE Savings & Security

Program and one for a GE Pension Plan. (App. p. 243) Neither box was checked. (App. p. 243)

At the beginning of their divorce case, a mandatory discovery order was issued requiring Robert to provide “[c]opies of IRA accounts, retirement plans, 401k’s, deferred compensation, savings plans and any other similar documents” to Susan or her attorney. (App. p. 138) Robert also signed the final draft of the stipulation on October 29, 2010, by swearing, under oath, that he had “fully disclosed all of [his] assets, income and liabilities to [Susan]...” (App. p. 128) The record established Robert never provided any indication he participated in a defined benefit pension. (App. p. 242)

Having knowledge of Robert’s GE 401(k) plan only, Susan signed the consent in blank at the time she added her signature to the stipulation on November 1, 2010. (Tr. 82, ln. 14 – 17; p. 83, ln. 7 – 14, 20 -21; p. 139, ln. 9 – 10; p. 139, ln. 23 – 25) Susan did not check either box on the consent form because she could not determine which box contained the correct technical name for the 401(k) “GE retirement fund” as named in their stipulation Exhibit A. (Tr. p. 83, ln. 22 – 23; p. 84, ln. 1 – 7; 15-22; p. 140, ln. 8 – 12; App. p. 114) Susan’s attorney and her legal assistant both confirmed this. (Tr. p. 172, ln. 11 – 19; p. 203, ln. 12-14, 23-p. 204, ln. 1)

Ten days after the entry of the decree, Susan’s attorney instructed her legal assistant to return the GE consent form bearing Susan’s signature to Robert via letter.

(Tr. p. 86, ln 10; App. pp. 120-123, 169-172) The letter asked Robert to send back a copy of the form after checking “the appropriate box” denoting the “plan you are participating in.” (App. pp. 120, 169) This letter used the singular nouns “plan” and “box”, consistent with Susan’s and her attorney’s knowledge Robert had an interest in only one GE retirement asset. (Tr. p. 86, ln. 11 – 18)

Because Robert’s 401(k) account was solely awarded to him, no further court orders or documents were necessary to monitor, divide, or otherwise treat Robert’s GE retirement property.

Once he received the GE consent form with Susan’s signature, Robert checked *both* boxes, denoting his interests in his 401(k) *and a defined benefit pension plan*, and sent the form to GE. (App. p. 118; Tr. p. 306, ln. 16 – 18, ln. 19 – 21; Tr. p. 306, ln 25 – Tr. p. 307 ln. 1) Robert never cooperated with counsel’s written request for a return copy of the completed form within one year of entry of decree. (App. p. 244)

B. District Court Ruling.

Following a two-day trial, the district court ruled in Susan’s favor. The court made the following factual findings:

It was not until September 3, 2015, when Susan met [Robert], at his request, at the University of Iowa Credit Union to sign a form satisfying his alimony obligation to Susan under the terms of the Decree, that [Robert] informed her that he was getting a “nice pension” from GE. That was the first time that Susan would have been alerted to the existence of any pension. Susan immediately questioned him about

how he got a pension, and he informed her that it was too late for her to do anything about it. The Court found Susan’s testimony in that regard to be both credible and relevant to [Robert’s] state of mind, and his understanding that he had intentionally deceived Susan during the dissolution process and at the time of the signing of the Stipulation of Settlement. It is also consistent with his sending over a blank “Consent” form for Susan to sign, and later intentionally checking the pension box, and never returning a copy of it to Attorney Reasner. This September 3, 2015, date is obviously more than a year after the date of the decree, but the Court finds [Robert’s] fraud could not have been discovered earlier in the exercise of due diligence.

(App. p. 244). In addressing Robert’s assertion that Susan should have discovered his failure to disclose the pension within one year of the entry of the decree, the district court found Robert intentionally concealed the pension and provided “categorically no information regarding the existence of any pension” (App. p. 243).

The trial court ruled:

[Robert] argues that Attorney Reasner could have and should have been more diligent in investigating prior to proving up the divorce on November 2, 2010. The Court disagrees. [Robert] had multiple opportunities and was under multiple obligations to affirmatively fully disclose all of his assets, particularly his retirement assets. He did not do so. Ms. Reasner had no obligation to investigate something that [Robert] had failed to advise her even existed.

(App. p. 244).

The court accordingly modified the property division of the decree, rather than simply setting it aside, and ordered Robert to pay Susan a total of \$40,117.80 – the amount of accumulated payments Susan would have received had the pension been divided in the original decree in the same manner as the parties’ other marital

property. The court also awarded Susan future payments from the pension in the amount of \$668.63 per month. Robert was then ordered to pay \$7056 of Susan's attorney's fees as a sanction for violation of discovery orders leading up to the trial. Robert filed a timely Notice of Appeal and the case was transferred to the Iowa Court of Appeals.

C. Majority Holding – Iowa Court of Appeals

The court of appeals, in a split decision, reversed the trial court's findings in Susan's favor, deciding that if had Susan exercised "reasonable diligence" she could have discovered Robert's fraud within one year of decree. The court of appeals vacated the district court's modification of the decree and remanded the case to the district court with instructions concerning the award of sanctions against Robert. The recitation of facts in the court of appeals' majority opinion is not contested, as far as it goes. Nor does Susan argue with the majority's holding (arrived at after a rather lengthy analysis of case authority inferring support for a contrary conclusion) that Robert's conduct in concealing the existence of his pension is indistinguishable from the type of extrinsic fraud within the meaning of *Graves v. Graves*, 109 N.W.707, 709 (Iowa 1906).

Rather, Susan's focus is on the majority's conclusion she failed to exercise "reasonable diligence" to timely discover Robert's fraud, a standard articulated in

*Johnson v. Mitchell*, 489 N.W.2d 411, 415 (Iowa App. 1992). More specifically, the court of appeals' analysis on this point was as follows:

So we move on to the next step of the analysis. Here we consider whether Susan has proved a negative, so to speak, by establishing that reasonable diligence would not have permitted her to 'discover the fraud . . . within one year after the judgment.' [citations]

We conclude Susan has not met this burden. Here again we focus on Susan's response to the GE consent form. As explained, Robert provided this form to Susan on October 29, days before the entry of the decree. The form included two check-boxes: one for the *GE Pension Plan* and one for a GE Savings and Security Program. On November 1, Susan signed this form without checking either box—and without finding out why the form referred to two different plans. Then, on November 12, Susan's attorney's office sent the signed form to Robert. Neither box was checked. Instead, the cover letter asked Robert to check the correct box. The letter also advised Robert that Susan 'would appreciate' receiving a copy of the form after Robert completed it.

But no one followed up. Neither Susan nor her attorney's office followed up with Robert to obtain the completed form. As a result, Susan did not receive a copy of the completed form. If she had, she would have seen that Robert checked *both* boxes, a clear sign that he had *two* retirement funds with GE, not just one.

By failing to follow up and obtain a completed copy of the GE consent form, Susan failed to exercise reasonable diligence, which would have permitted her to learn of Robert's purported fraud within one year after the judgment.<sup>2</sup> See *Johnson*, 489 N.W.2d at 415.

*Hutchinson*, 2021 WL 3076299, at\*6-7 (*emphasis in original*). Footnote 2 within this passage is important to this application, as will be explained below. For the reasons discussed below, the majority's analysis and conclusion are erroneous.

D. Dissenting Opinion – Iowa Court of Appeals

Judge Schumacher concurred in part, specially concurred in part, and dissented in part. Her dissent focused upon the majority opinion's conclusion Susan failed to act with reasonable diligence. *Hutchinson*, 2021 WL 3076299, at \*12-13 (Schumacher, J. dissenting, in part). Judge Schumacher also would have awarded \$5,000 in appellate attorney's fees. *Id.* The analysis of the issue of extrinsic fraud in the dissent begins: "I write separately to address the issue of extrinsic fraud that has vexed the family law practice." *Id.*, at \*14. Judge Schumacher's opinion cited to and discussed *In re: Marriage of Rhinehart*, also a case of asset concealment in divorce, in support of her affirmance of the district court's determination Robert's complete concealment of the pension involved undiscoverable extrinsic fraud. *Id.*, at \*13.

On the specific question of whether Susan had shown she exercised reasonable diligence in discovering Robert's concealment, Judge Schumacher stated:

While the majority highlights that Susan should have followed through with requesting a copy of the form, this underscores both the timing of Robert presenting the form and that Robert had simultaneously signed a stipulation declaring that the only retirement fund he owned was the GE 401(k) plan. Robert essentially argues that although he failed to disclose the pension, failed to provide a copy of the executed form, and indicated full disclosure simultaneously with the delivery of the generic consent form, he is shielded because Susan should have done more to discover his deception. Given the generic nature of the form and

language that accompanied the boxes, along with Robert's statement to Susan's counsel that the purpose of the form was to change the death benefits to his children, even the return of the executed form to Susan may not have triggered 'an aha moment' and alerted her to the undisclosed pension.

It is critical to consider the practical ramifications inherent in holding contrary to the district court's determination. Such a finding invites litigants to sophisticate their efforts to conceal property. This is an invitation our courts should not extend.

*Id.*, at \*12-13.

E. Argument

1. The Court of Appeals Applied a Standard Inconsistent With Similar Prior Iowa Cases.

The court of appeals' decision resolved the question of whether Robert's conduct constituted extrinsic fraud by adhering to the precedent established in *Graves*. The *Graves* case does not contain an in depth analysis of the reasonable diligence issue. Importantly, however, the Court in *Graves* deferred to the trial court's conclusion by saying, "There is a dispute in the testimony about this matter, and we are inclined to agree with the trial court that plaintiff was guilty of no negligence in prosecuting her action." 132 Iowa 199, \_\_\_, 109 N.W. 707, 709 (1906). Ultimately, the court's decision in *Graves* was that the defendant, who was found to have committed concealment, "has no cause for complaint of the action of the trial court." *Id.*

As mentioned, the court of appeals made no attempt to distinguish the rationale underlying the outcome in this case from the outcome in *Rhinehart*.<sup>2</sup> The case was cited in both the majority and dissenting opinions here, yet the majority's apparent failure to distinguish it sheds no light on this "vexing" issue.

In *Rhinehart*, the dissolution trial took place in September 2003. *Rhinehart*, 2010 WL 44560, at \*2. The husband, an attorney, failed to disclose that he had been retained the previous January in two contingency cases. That disclosure would have impacted the experts' respective valuations of his law practice. *Id.*, at \*3. At trial on the ex-wife's petition to vacate the dissolution decree on the basis of newly discovered evidence, the record revealed the ex-husband had been involved in correspondence with the defense attorneys in those cases dating back to July, 2002. *Id.*, at \*3. One month before the dissolution trial, the husband filed the lawsuits in the clerk of court's public offices, and he faxed copies of the petitions from those cases to newspapers in Sioux City and Des Moines, but not to his ex-wife's attorney. *Id.*

The court of appeals upheld the trial court's decision to vacate the decree in *Rhinehart* on the grounds his concealment was extrinsic fraud *that could not have been discovered earlier than it was*. The court did not find that the ex-wife could

---

<sup>2</sup> Susan acknowledges the *Rhinehart* opinion does not constitute controlling authority. Iowa R.App.P. 6.904(2)(c).

have and should have discovered the existence of these cases by, for example, reviewing local newspapers or monitoring public records of case filings to ascertain the existence of these cases within one year of the entry of the decree. *Id.*, at \*2. Notably, in *Rhinehart* the court of appeals found no error in the trial court's conclusion that the husband's extrinsic fraud was undiscoverable within one year of decree despite evidence of the specific assets in public records prior to the divorce trial. *Rhinehart*, at \*2. Nevertheless, the majority opinion did not analyze *Rhinehart* or make any attempt to explain why the evidence concerning reasonable diligence here is distinguishable from *Rhinehart*. Susan asserts that the diligence owed in *Rhinehart* is materially indistinguishable from the appropriate expectation of reasonable diligence here, particularly when considered against the extent of Robert's intentional acts to conceal his pension from her.

2. The Record Supports the District Court's Conclusion that Susan Could Not Have Discovered Robert's Fraud Before One Year Following Entry of their Divorce Decree.

In this case, the court of appeals apparently gave no weight to the district court's determination of the reasonable diligence issue when it should have done so. The district court was best situated determine the parties' credibility and to recognize the reach, intentionality, and effect of Robert's concealment in the circumstances at the time and as they actually were. Here, the court of appeals does not refer to the applicable scope and standard of review. It is obvious, however, the court

determined to find the facts anew under a *de novo* standard. Yet, the majority reached its conclusion through reasoning colored by hindsight rather than discerning, as it did in *Rhinehart*, that the district court's conclusion had substantial support in the record.

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