IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
NO. 20-0076
(Linn County No. CDDM037207)

IN RE: THE MARRIAGE OF)
SUSAN GAYLE HUTCHINSON)
AND ROBERT GREGORY)
HUTCHINSON)
)
SUSAN GAYLE HUTCHINSON,)
)
Petitioner/Appellee,)
)
vs.)
)
ROBERT GREGORY)
HUTCHINSON;)
)
Respondent/Appellant.)

**APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR LINN COUNTY
THE HONORABLE MITCHELL E. TURNER, DISTRICT JUDGE**

**APPELLANT/RESPONDENT ROBERT GREGORY
HUTCHINSON'S RESISTANCE TO APPLICATION
FOR FURTHER REVIEW**

**WEBB L. WASSMER
WASSMER LAW OFFICE, PLC
5320 Winslow Road
Marion, Iowa 52302
Tel: (319) 210-4288
wassmerlaw@yahoo.com
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT
ROBERT GREGORY HUTCHINSON**

PROOF OF SERVICE AND CERTIFICATE OF FILING

ARGUMENT

Appellant-Respondent Robert Gregory Hutchinson (“Greg”)¹ resists the Application for Further Review filed by Appellee-Petitioner Susan Gayle Hutchinson (“Susan”) on August 10, 2021. The Application for Further Review does not meet the requirements of Iowa Rule of Appellate Procedure 6.1103(1)(b).

Susan's underlying claim is that Greg committed fraud in failing to disclose the existence of his GE Pension Plan during their 2010 dissolution. Susan did not file her Petition in this matter until 2016, over five years later. It is undisputed that she missed the one year deadline under Iowa Rule of Civil Procedure 1.1012(2) for an action at law to “correct, vacate or modify a final judgment or order” due to “fraud practiced in obtaining it.”

Thus, the question is whether Susan can maintain an action in equity to set aside the Decree based on fraud. As noted by the Court of Appeals, there are three steps in the analysis. *See* Ct. App. Opinion at 8. First, it must be shown that the fraud is “extrinsic,” not “intrinsic.” Second, it must be shown that “reasonable diligence” would not have allowed discovery of the

¹The District Court used “Greg” as that is what Mr. Hutchinson uses. For an unknown reason, the Court of Appeals used “Robert.” Appellant uses “Greg” as the correct short form descriptor.

fraud within one year of the judgment. Finally, the traditional elements of fraud must be shown.

A. The Requirements of Rule 6.1103(1)(b) Are Not Met With Respect to Whether Susan Exercised Reasonable Diligence to Discover the Alleged Fraud and, In Any Event, the Court of Appeals Correctly Decided that Issue

The Court of Appeals resolved the case in Greg's favor on the second step of the test,² finding that Susan had not shown reasonable diligence in discovering the fraud. *See* Ct. App. Opinion at 14-15. The facts are cogently set forth at page 4 of the Court of Appeals' Opinion. Prior to entry of the Decree by the District Court, Greg had provided Susan's attorney with a blank GE Consent Form. That form had check boxes for both a "GE Pension Plan" and a "GE Savings & Security Program." Neither box was checked. Susan signed the form and did not check either box. Susan's attorney forwarded the signed form to Greg, with a cover letter stating "Please confirm in Section 2 which plan you are participating in (GE Pension Plan or GE Savings & Security Program) and check the appropriate box."

²The first step of the test, classifying the alleged fraud as "extrinsic" or "intrinsic," is discussed in Section B below.

At the time Susan Hutchinson signed the GE Consent Form, she "had some confusion about what box to check." (Tr. Tr. 139). Although confused about the GE Consent Form, Susan Hutchinson did not discuss it with her attorney, Amy Reasner, or ask for an opportunity to discuss the Form with Ms. Reasner, before signing it. (Tr. Tr. 140). She did discuss with Mr. Reasner's legal assistant, Michelle Barnes, that she "could not decipher what box I should check because it talked about a plan and a program and I was looking for a retirement account, a 401(k) or a defined contribution account, and neither one of those addressed either of them." (Tr. Tr. 140).³ There was nothing on the GE Consent Form that related to a 401(k) or a defined contribution plan. (Tr. Tr. 142). Although Ms. Barnes informed Susan Hutchinson that she would discuss the GE Consent Form with Ms. Reasner, Ms. Reasner never discussed that Form with Susan before filing the Decree and Stipulation with the Court. (Tr. Tr. 144). Ms. Barnes testified that, after Susan Hutchinson expressed uncertainty and concern about the GE Consent Form, she discussed the GE Consent Form with Ms. Reasner, but could not

³Greg notes that Susan worked in the financial services industry. (Tr. Tr. 108-110). That included, from 2004 to 2010, working for F&M Bank, where she was the assistant to the bank's financial advisor, who advised clients regarding retirement accounts. (Tr. Tr. 109-10). Accordingly, Susan was familiar with the various types of retirement accounts.

recall what they discussed. (Tr. Tr. 182-83). Ms. Reasner also did not recall discussing the GE Consent Form with Susan Hutchinson. (Tr. Tr. 226-27). There was no evidence that Ms. Reasner, Ms. Barnes or Susan Hutchinson discussed the GE Consent Form with Greg Hutchinson before Susan Hutchinson signed it and Amy Reasner filed the Decree and Stipulation with the Court.

Greg checked both boxes and provided the form to GE. He did not send a copy to Susan's attorney.⁴ Neither Susan nor her attorney ever followed up to obtain a completed copy.

The Court of Appeals found that Susan had failed to use reasonable diligence. *See Ct. App. Opinion at 14-15.* The GE Consent Form had a check box for the GE Pension Plan. Susan, who was confused about what she was signing, signed the form without knowing which box or boxes Greg would check. Susan and her attorney never followed up to obtain a copy of the completed form. As found by the Court of Appeals, “If she had, she would have seen that [Greg] checked *both* boxes, a clear sign that he had *two* retirement funds with GE, not just one.” *Id.* at 15.

⁴This point was disputed in the evidence. Greg testified that he had sent a copy to Ms. Barnes, the paralegal for Susan's attorney. (Tr. Tr. 298-99). For purposes of this proceeding, Greg accepts the finding of the District Court and the Court of Appeals that he did not.

The Court of Appeals correctly analyzed and decided this controlling issue. In doing so, the Court of Appeals applied settled law to the specific facts of this case. Resolution of this issue is based on the undisputed facts.⁵ Although, as discussed below, the predicate issue of “extrinsic” versus “intrinsic” fraud is an issue that this Court should take up someday, this is not the case to do so. Even if the Court resolved that issue in Susan's favor, Susan would still have to get around her failure to exercise reasonable diligence in order to prevail. This Court should await a case in which reasonable diligence is not at issue in order to clarify the difference between extrinsic and intrinsic fraud.

Overall, the issue of whether Susan exercised reasonable diligence to discover her claim does not meet the requirements of Rule 6.1103(1)(b) for further review by this Court. First, the Court of Appeals' decision is not “in conflict with a decision of this court or the court of appeals on an important

⁵ Susan argues that even though review is *de novo*, the Court of Appeals should have given more deference to the District Court's findings. While that is arguably correct with respect to credibility findings when the evidence is in conflict, that is not the case here. The Court of Appeals considered the same evidence that the District Court considered. The difference is that the Court of Appeals reached a different conclusion as to whether Susan had exercised reasonable diligence, which is permissible in applying a *de novo* standard of review.

matter.”⁶ Second, there is no “substantial question of constitutional law or an important question of law that has not been, but should be, settled by the supreme court.” Third, there is no “important question of changing legal principles.” Finally, there is no “issue of broad public importance that the supreme court should ultimately determine.”

While Susan strives mightily to convince this Court that the Court of Appeals' conclusion that she failed to exercise reasonable diligence presents a question of great importance to other cases, further analysis by this Court of the specific facts of this case would not generate any broad rules of general applicability. The simple matter is that Susan had a document, the GE Consent Form, which would have triggered an investigation by a reasonable person in Susan's position into what exactly Greg had for a retirement plan or plans with GE. Susan cannot get around the fact that she signed a blank document, yet never followed up to get a copy of the completed document or conduct any further investigation. The law allowed

⁶Susan argues that the Court of Appeals decision in this case is inconsistent with *In re Marriage of Rhinehart*, No. 09-0193 (Iowa Ct. App. 2010). However, in *Rhinehart* there was no claim that the ex-wife had any information about the concealed assets (contingency fee cases) within the year after entry of the Decree that would have triggered further inquiry. Here, Susan had knowledge of the GE Consent Form which was enough to trigger further inquiry.

her a year to do so. Susan did nothing. Thus, there is no broad issue of creating or modifying rules relating to concealment of assets. Holding Greg to account for the claimed fraud is not the issue here. There is only the narrow question of whether Susan, given the specific facts of this case, exercised reasonable diligence to discover the claimed fraud and, having failed to do so, waited too long to file her Petition.

Accordingly, this Court should decline the invitation to grant further review to address the issue of Susan's failure to exercise reasonable diligence. Doing so would not advance the law. In any event, the Court of Appeals correctly found that Susan had not exercised reasonable diligence.

B. The Issue Of Extrinsic vs. Intrinsic Fraud

The first part of the test, whether the alleged fraud in this case (failing to disclose an asset and providing false statements that all assets have been disclosed) constitutes “extrinsic” or “intrinsic” fraud, arguably and standing alone does meet the test of Rule 6.1103(1)(b). As discussed in the Court of Appeals' decision at pages 8 to 14, this Court's case law on what types of fraud falls into each category has been inconsistent. Even the dissent acknowledges that this issue “has vexed the family law practice.” *See Ct.*

App. Opinion at 24 (Schumacher, J.). In order for Susan to prevail on the first part of the test, she must prove that the claimed fraud is “extrinsic,” not “intrinsic.”

As discussed above, this Court should decline to grant further review as the Court of Appeals correctly found on the second step of the test that Susan had not exercised reasonable diligence, that issue does not merit further review, and resolution of that issue controls the outcome of this case. However, if this Court decides to grant further review on that issue, the Court should necessarily grant further review on the issue of extrinsic versus intrinsic fraud as that is a predicate issue that must be decided. *See Iowa R. App. P. 6.1103(1)(d)* (“On further review, the supreme court may review any or all of the issues raised in the original appeal or limit its review to just those issues brought to the court's attention by the application for further review.”). *See also State v. Doggett*, 687 N.W.2d 97, 99 (Iowa 2004) (explaining where a party seeks further review 'we retain the discretion to consider all issues raised in the initial appeal').

The majority persuasively concludes that there is a strong argument that the claimed fraud here is intrinsic and, therefore, does not justify the exercise of the court's equitable powers. The majority primarily cites to this

Court's opinion in *Mauer v. Rohde*, 257 N.W.2d 489 (Iowa 1977). *Mauer* states:

Intrinsic fraud "occurs within the framework of the actual conduct of the trial and pertains to and affects the determination of the issue presented therein. It may be accomplished by perjury, or by the use of false or forged instruments, or by concealment or misrepresentation of evidence."

Extrinsic fraud, on the other hand, has been described as that fraud which keeps a litigant from presenting the facts of his or her case and prevents an adjudication on the merits. Examples of extrinsic fraud are a bribed judge, dishonest attorney representing the defrauded client, or a false promise of compromise.

Mauer, 257 N.W.2d at 496 (citations omitted).

The alleged fraud here constitutes "concealment . . . of evidence" as well as the "use of false . . . instruments." The alleged fraud occurred within the framework of the "actual conduct of the trial" as the ultimate step was to sign a Stipulation⁷ averring that all assets had been disclosed. Further,

⁷ In a dissolution, a Stipulation is presented to the District Court in lieu of testimony and exhibits regarding the parties' financial and other circumstances. See *Greene v. Greene*, 351 S.C. 329, 336 (S.C. App. 2002) ("The purpose of a stipulation is to "obviate need for proof or to narrow [the] range of litigable issues." Black's Law Dictionary 1415 (6th ed.1990)."); *Smith v. Smith*, 985 S.W.2d 836, 842 (Mo. App. 1998) ("The purpose of a stipulation is to eliminate the litigation of an issue so as to save delay, trouble and expense."); *Fiedler v. Fiedler*, 879 P.2d 675, 681 (Mont. 1994) ("The purpose of a stipulation is to relieve the parties from the necessity of introducing evidence about the ultimate fact covered by it."). A Stipulation

disclosure and division of marital assets are matters that squarely fall within the scope of a dissolution. There was no evidence of the types of conduct described in *Mauer* as constituting extrinsic fraud, such as bribing a judge or jury or a corrupt attorney.

However, the Court of Appeals found itself bound by a decision of this Court made over 100 years ago in *Graves v. Graves*, 109 N.W. 707 (Iowa 1906). See Ct. App. Opinion at 12-14. The Court of Appeals found *Graves* factually on point.

Thus, the issue of extrinsic versus intrinsic fraud is the type of issue that would ordinarily warrant review by this Court. The Court of Appeals' decision is arguably in conflict with *Mauer* and other cases. The definitions of extrinsic and intrinsic fraud and what types of conduct falls within each category are important questions of law that should be settled by this Court. This Court should also, at some point, address whether *Graves*, which is inconsistent with *Mauer* and other cases, has either been silently overruled by later cases or if *Graves* should be expressly overruled.

also presents the parties' agreed position as to how the issues of the dissolution should be resolved by the trial court.

C. Other Issues

A few other minor issues are presented.

First, the District Court had awarded Susan a portion of Greg's 401(k) with a subsequent employer, Integrated Sales, as compensation for the fraud. The majority found that this was error as Susan did not prevail. *See* Ct. App. Opinion at 16. The dissent agreed that was error even if Susan prevails as Susan conceded that there is no authority to do so. *Id.* at 30-31. Regardless of the outcome of the other issues, it was improper for the District Court to do so and this Court should so hold.

Second, all three judges on the Court of Appeals agreed that it was proper to remand for a determination of: (1) whether Greg should receive an award of attorneys' fees with respect to dismissal of Count 2 on summary judgment; and (2) whether the District Court properly awarded \$7,056 against Greg as a discovery sanction. The Court of Appeals' resolution of those issues was appropriate, should stand, and need not be addressed by this Court. Susan does not raise those issues in her Application for Further Review. *See* Susan's Application for Further Review at 27.

Finally, the majority denied Susan's request for appellate attorneys' fees. The dissent would award her \$5,000. It is undisputed that there is no

statutory or contractual right to attorneys' fees with respect to Count 1. The dissent would award fees because of the dissent's view that Greg "has acted in bad faith, vexatiously, wantonly, or for oppressive reasons." Ct. App. Opinion at 31. What the dissent misses is that the requested attorneys' fees relate to this appeal. Greg's alleged conduct with respect to the dissolution is not at issue in this appeal. The central issue on appeal is whether Susan waited too long to file her Petition for fraud. Greg's arguments on appeal, which were accepted in part and as to the ultimate conclusion by the Court of Appeals' majority, were made in good faith, and were not made vexatiously, wantonly, or for oppressive reasons. The dissent would apparently have Greg concede Susan's Petition for fraud, even though untimely, or pay Susan's attorneys' fees for arguing that her Petition was untimely. No attorneys' fees for the appeal should be awarded to Susan.

CONCLUSION AND RELIEF SOUGHT

For the above stated reasons, Appellant-Respondent Robert Gregory Hutchinson respectfully requests this Court to deny Appellee-Petitioner Susan Gayle Hutchinson Application for Further Review. In the event that

the Court elects to grant further review, this Court should also review the issue of whether the alleged fraud in question was “extrinsic” or “intrinsic.”